90874-5

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 08, 2014, 3:54 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY

No. 71732-4-1

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ана на правители и правлении и правлении по правлении правлении правлении и правлении правлении правлении правл При правлении правлени

THE ESTATE OF VIRGINIA J. JEPSEN; and JULIE MILES, Personal Representative,

Appellants,

v.

MACK JEPSEN, an individual,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE EDMUND MURPHY

**PETITION FOR REVIEW BY SUPREME COURT** 

anders structure and a companyment of a construction of the second structure of the

# A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant Julie Miles, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Virginia J. Jepsen (the Estate), petitions the Court to accept review of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I that is designated in Part B of this petition for review.

# **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

In its September 8, 2014 unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals, Division I denied the Estate's arguments on discretionary review regarding the jurisdictional prerequisites of the will contest statute, RCW 11.24.010, which was substantially amended in 2007.<sup>1</sup> A copy of this opinion is attached hereto as Appendix B. The Estate seeks review of all portions of this opinion.

# C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Petitioner Mack Jepsen filed a will contest petition but never personally served the Estate's personal representative. The will contest statute, as amended in 2007, is not waivable and requires a petitioner to both file a timely will contest and timely serve the personal representative in order to invoke the court's jurisdiction. Because Mr. Jepsen failed to comply with the express requirements of the will contest statute, is the probate of Virgina Jepsen's will final and binding? YES.

///

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of the text of RCW 11.24.010 is attached hereto as Appendix A.

# **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Virginia Jepsen executed her Last Will and Testament, in which she made no provision for her sons Mack and Michael Jepsen, on July 1, 2009. CP at 1-12. Instead, Ms. Jepsen provided for her grandchildren and her longtime friend, Julie Miles. CP at 4-12. Ms. Jepsen also nominated Ms. Miles to serve as her personal representative. CP at 8.

On November 16, 2011, Ms. Jepsen passed away. CP at 1. On December 20, 2011, the Pierce County Superior Court entered an order admitting Ms. Jepsen's will to probate, declaring the Estate solvent, and appointing Ms. Miles to serve as personal representative of the Estate without bond and without further intervention of the court. CP at 15-17. On December 29, 2011, counsel for the Estate mailed notice of the probate proceedings and Ms. Miles's appointment as personal representative to Ms. Jepsen's heirs, including petitioner Mack Jepsen. CP at 20-22.

Shortly after the probate began, Mr. Jepsen filed a Request for Special Notice under RCW 11.28.240 and requested a copy of the Estate's inventory from the Estate's counsel. CP at 24-25, 174. Counsel for the Estate and Mr. Jepsen spoke regarding the Request for Special Notice and the inventory, which was provided in June 2011. CP at 174-76.

On March 22, 2012, just over three months after Ms. Jepsen's will was admitted to probate, Mr. Jepsen filed a will contest petition seeking to

invalidate the will. CP at 26-28. Although Mr. Jepsen filed his will contest petition, it was never served on Ms. Miles, the personal representative of the Estate. CP at 26, 173-77. Instead, Mr. Jepsen's attorney e-mailed a copy of the will contest petition and summons to Ms. Miles's attorney. CP at 26, 173-77. But the Estate's counsel never consented to receive service of original process on Ms. Miles's behalf, as The Estate is not authorized to accept service on Ms. Miles's behalf and has never made any written acceptance or admission of service of original process on the Estate's behalf. CP at 173-77.

June 20, 2012 was the ninetieth day following Mr. Jepsen's filing of his will contest petition. *See* CP at26-28. Mr. Jepsen, however, has failed to personally serve original process relating to his will contest on the personal representative by June 20, 2011 or since. CP at 173-77.

Based on Mr. Jepsen's failure to satisfy the requisites of the will contest statute, the Estate moved for its dismissal. CP at 54. Although the trial court granted the Estate's motion for dismissal, it reconsidered that order and ultimately entered an order vacating its order dismissing the will contest petition, which would allow Mr. Jepsen's will contest to proceed. CP at 231-33, 266-67. The Court of Appeals granted the Estate's request for discretionary review of the trial court's order on reconsideration. *See* CP at 268-70. The Estate asks this Court to accept review of the Court of

Appeals' opinion because it presents an issue of substantial public importance that should be determined by this Court, namely confirming the statutory filing and service jurisdictional prerequisites that must be satisfied under the amended will contest statute.

# **E. ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals' opinion in this matter overlooked the plain language of the recently amended will contest statute, which imposes definite filing and service requirements that must be met before a petitioner may invoke a superior court's jurisdiction, and relied on this Court's opinion in *Estate of Kordon*,<sup>2</sup> which analyzes the former will contest statutes—which the Legislature has substantially amended—in erroneously determining that Mr. Jepsen properly invoked the trial court's jurisdiction to consider his will contest petition.

This Court will accept review of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review if it is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals or involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4).

This Court should accept review because this case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court and the

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Reported at 157 Wn.2d 206, 137 P.3d 16 (2006), and attached hereto as Appendix C.

Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with its analyses of other, similarly structured special proceedings statutes.

1. This appeal presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

This appeal involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court because it presents a critical issue of statutory construction regarding the jurisdiction of Washington courts to consider will contest petitions under chapter 11.24 RCW, as amended, and chapter 11.96A RCW (TEDRA); the Court of Appeals, however, erroneously resolved this case according largely to this Court's opinion in *Estate of Kordon*, 157 Wn.2d 206, 137 P.3d 16 (2006), which analyzed the former will contest statutes. In light of the recent amendments to chapter 11.24 RCW, the issue presented in this appeal is an issue of first impression that should be determined by this Court because the Court of Appeals' opinion sets out an incorrect jurisdictional standard for will contests, as discussed below.

2. Will contests are statutory proceedings governed by the plain language of chapter 11.24 RCW, which requires a petitioner to both (a) file and (b) personally serve the personal representative with original process within the strict, four-month limitations period.

The meaning of a statute and, if necessary, statutory construction are issues of law that appellate courts review de novo. *Dep't of Ecology v.* 

*Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); *Anderson v. Dussault*, -- Wn.2d ---, ¶18, 333 P.3d 395 (2014) (Case No. 89788-3, Decided September 4, 2014). An appellate court's primary purpose in conducting this review is to "ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature" and, where the plain language of the statute is unambiguous, an appellate court will "assume[] the legislature means what it says and will not engage in statutory construction past the plain meaning of the words." *Anderson*, -- Wn.2d at ¶¶18, 21. Although Washington courts may harmonize the provisions of two statutes that address the same subject matter and appear inconsistent, it is a canon of statutory construction that the later and the more specific statute controls over the earlier and more general one. *Anderson*, -- Wn.2d at ¶¶18, 24.

Will contests are special proceedings that are governed by chapter 11.24 RCW. Kordon, 157 Wn.2d at 209; Estate of Toth, 138 Wn.2d 650, 653, 981 P.2d 439 (1999); Estate of Palucci, 61 Wn. App. 412, 415, 810 P.2d 970 (1991); RCW 11.96A.090(1). "Jurisdiction over a will contest is governed by RCW 11.24.010 . . . ." Matter of Crane 's Estate, 15 Wn. App. 161, 162, 548 P.2d 585 (1976). Will contest proceedings are also "matters" that are supplemented—but not superseded—by chapter 11.96A RCW (TEDRA). Kordon, 157 Wn.2d at 210-12; RCW 11.96A.080(2). "The jurisdiction of the trial court [in will contest matters] is derived

exclusively from the statute[s], and may be exercised *only* in the mode and under the limitations therein prescribed." *Palucci*, 61 Wn. App. at 415 (quoting *Estate of Van Dyke*, 54 Wn. App. 225, 228, 772 P.2d 1049 (1989) (emphasis added)).

Will contests are subject to a strict four-month statute of limitations, which begins to run on the date that a will is admitted to probate. RCW 11.24.010; Toth, 138 Wn.2d at 653. "A court has no jurisdiction to hear and determine a [will] contest begun after the expiration of the time fixed in the statute; neither does a court of equity have power to entertain such jurisdiction." Kordon, 157 Wn.2d at 214 (internal citations omitted)(emphasis added). Indeed, "where the statute authorizes the contest of a will, and specifies the time within which such contest may be instituted, the court has no jurisdiction to hear and determine a contest begun after the expiration of the time fixed in the statute." Toth, 138 Wn.2d at 656 (quoting State ex. Rel. Wood v. Superior Court for Chelan Cnty., 76 Wash. 27, 30-31, 135 P. 494 (1913) (emphasis added)). The Legislature's historical objective . . . has been to shorten the [statute of limitations period] for will contests." Estate of Peterson, 102 Wn. App. 456, 462, 466-67, 9 P.3d 845 (2000). Even factual inequities that may result from enforcing the will contest statute's strict four-month

limitations period "do not justify circumventing [the clear limitations

period] rule articulated by the Legislature." Toth, 138 Wn.2d at 657.

The legislature significantly amended RCW 11.24.010 in 2007,

providing specific criteria for a petitioner to toll the four-month limitations

period and properly commence a will contest matter; it states:

If any person interested in any will shall appear within four months immediately following the probate or rejection thereof, and by petition to the court having jurisdiction contest the validity of said will, or appear to have the will proven which has been rejected, he or she shall file a petition containing his or her objections and exceptions to said will, or to the rejection thereof. . . .

For the purpose of tolling the four-month limitations period, a contest is deemed commenced when a petition is filed with the court and not when served on the personal representative. The petitioner shall personally serve the personal representative within ninety days after the date of filing the petition. If, following filing, service is not so made, the action is deemed to not have been commenced for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations.

If no person files and serves a petition within the time under this section, the probate or rejection of such will shall be binding and final.

(Emphasis added). Accordingly, in order to properly invoke the superior

court's jurisdiction in a will contest, a petitioner must: (1) file a petition in

the proper court within four months of the will being admitted to probate

(timing requirement) and (2) personally serve the personal representative

within 90-days of filing the petition (service requirement). RCW

11.24.010. Under the plain language of RCW 11.24.010, a petitioner's

failure to meet both the timing and service requirements "the [will contest] action is deemed to not have been commenced for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations . . . [and] the probate or rejection of such will shall be binding and final." In special proceedings, all statutory procedural requirements must be met before a person may properly invoke a court's jurisdiction. *See Overhulse Neighborhood Ass 'n v. Thurston Cnty.*, 94

Wn. App. 593, 597, 972 P.2d 470 (1999).

Before the legislature's 2007 amendments took effect, however,

RCW 11.24.010 did not specifically require a person contesting a will to

personally serve the personal representative. See Former RCW 11.24.010

(1994). It stated:

If any person interested in any will shall *appear* within four months immediately following the probate or rejection thereof, and *by petition to the court* having jurisdiction contest the validity of said will, or appear to have the will proven which has been rejected, he or she shall file a petition containing his or her objections and exceptions to said will, or to the rejection thereof. . .

If no person *shall appear* within the time under this section, the probate or rejection of such will shall be binding and final.

Former RCW 11.24.010 (1994) (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup> Former "RCW

11.24.010 [(1994)] does not even discuss notice to the interested party."

Toth, 138 Wn.2d at 654.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Attached hereto as Appendix D is a copy of Chapter 475 to the Washington Legislative Service Report for 2007, which shows the Legislature's 2007 amendment to RCW 11.24.010 on page 5.

In addition to significantly amending RCW 11.24.010 in 2007, the legislature also made notable amendments to RCW 11.24.020, which addresses notice of will contest petitions, in 2006. It now states:

Upon the filing of the petition referenced in RCW 11.24.010, notice shall be given as provided in RCW 11.96A.100 to the executors who have taken upon themselves the execution of the will, or to the administrators with the will annexed, to all legatees named in the will or to their guardians if any of them are minors, or to their personal representatives if any of them are dead, and to all persons interested in the matter, as defined in RCW 11.96A.030(5).

RCW 11.24.020.<sup>4</sup> As amended, RCW 11.24.020 requires that notice be provided as established under RCW 11.96A.100, which requires that a summons "be served in accordance with this chapter and, where not inconsistent with these rules, the procedural rules of court . . . ." RCW 11.96A.100(2) (enacted in 2001).<sup>5</sup> But, before RCW 11.24.020 was amended, it required that, upon filing of a will contest petition, the petitioner issue "a citation . . . to the executors . . . requiring them to appear before the court, on a day therein specified, to show cause why the petition should not be granted." Former RCW 11.24.020 (1965).<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A copy of the text of RCW 11.24.020 is attached hereto as Appendix E.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Under TEDRA generally, original service of a petition must be effected by personal service or by mail. *See* RCW 11.96A.100(3); RCW 11.96A.110(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Attached hereto as Appendix F is a copy of Chapter 360 to the Washington Legislative Service Report for 2006, which shows the Legislature's 2006 amendment to RCW 11.24.020 on page 6.

Consequently, under Former RCW 11.24.010 (1994) and Former RCW 11.24.020 (1965), a petitioner could properly commence a will contest matter-and, thus, toll the strict four-month statute of limitations—by only filing a petition to contest the will with the court having jurisdiction. See Former RCW 11.24.010 (1994); see also Palucci, 61 Wn. App. at 415; Crane's Estate, 15 Wn. App. at 163 (holding that the petitioner's act of filing a will contest in accordance with the terms of Former RCW 11.24.010 (1971) vested the superior court with jurisdiction over the matter because the statute "requires simply the [f]iling of the petition."). This was the statutory scheme under which this Court decided Kordon. 157 Wn.2d at 208, n.1. Thus, the Kordon Court correctly noted that Former "RCW 11.24.020 [(1965)] imposes no explicit statutory time limit on the issuance of a citation .... [a] party contesting a will may request and serve citations at any time within the four-month statute of limitations on bringing a will contest or any time within 90 days of timely filing a petition contesting the will." 157 Wn.2d at 213.

Here, under the current versions of the will contest statutes, which were in effect at all times relevant to this dispute, Mr. Jepsen failed to properly invoke the superior court's jurisdiction. Although Mr. Jepsen filed his will contest petition on March 22, 2012, which was within the four-month statutory period, thus satisfying the timing requirement, he

failed to personally serve Ms. Miles within 90-days after filing the petition, and he cannot now satisfy the service requirement. CP at 173-77. Consequently, Mr. Jepsen failed to satisfy the statutory prerequisites to the superior court's exercise of jurisdiction over his will contest set forth in RCW 11.24.010 and, thereby, divested the court of any authority to proceed. Because all statutory and procedural requirements must be met before a court's jurisdiction is properly invoked, Mr. Jepsen cannot now avail himself of any jurisdiction that the probate court may have had to consider his will contest. *See Tacoma Rescue Mission v. Stewart*, 155 Wn. App. 250, 254, n.9, 228 P.3d 1289 (2010); *Nickum v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 153 Wn. App. 366, 379, n.9, 223 P.3d 1172 (2009); *Overhulse*, 94 Wn. App. at 597.

3. Looking beyond the plain language and construing the will contest statute 's language in line with other analogous statutory provisions establishes that Mr. Jepsen failed to properly invoke the probate court's jurisdiction and that the Court of Appeals' analysis in this case conflicts with its analysis of other analogous special proceedings statutes.

As discussed above, will contests are special proceedings under the civil rules of court and the provisions of Title 11 RCW governing will contests control over any inconsistent provisions in the civil rules. RCW 11.96A.090(1). Because Mr. Jepsen failed to comply with RCW 11.24.010's service requirement, he failed to satisfy the statutory

prerequisites to invoke the superior court's jurisdiction over his will contest petition. Thus, the dismissal of Mr. Jepsen's will contest petition should not have been reconsidered and, instead, should have been dismissed. This result is not only mandated by the plain language of RCW 11.24.010, it is also supported by precedent interpreting other special proceedings statutes with analogous structures.

For example, the estate claim statute, which is also a special proceeding statute under Title 11 RCW, "establishes a bright line rule within which a claimant must bring an action on a claim." *In re Estate of Stover*, 178 Wn. App. 550, 559, 315 P.3d 579 (2013) (internal citations omitted). Indeed, the estate claim statute sets forth a sequence of events and a time period within which a claimant must sue: (1) if a personal representative rejects a claim against the estate, he or she shall notify the claimant of the rejection and file an affidavit with the court showing the notification was postmarked; and (2) the claimant "must bring suit in the proper court against the personal representative within [30] days after notification of rejection *or the claim will be forever barred.*" RCW 11.40.100(1) (emphasis added). Accordingly, Division I of the Court of Appeals recently acknowledged that this statutory language "plainly states that [claimants] must bring suit against the personal representative within

thirty days after notification of rejection or the claim is forever barred." Stover, 178 Wn. App. at 557-58. Thus, in Stover, because the claimant filed her claim against the estate 35-days after notification of its rejection, the claimant's claim against the estate was forever barred and neither general provisions of the civil rules nor equity could intervene to revive the claimant's claim against the estate in derogation of the claim statute's plain language. 178 Wn. App. at 559-63.

Similarly, like the estate claim statute and the will contest statute, the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA) is a special proceedings statute that sets forth specific procedural requirements. RCW 36.70C.040 states: "A land use petition is *barred*, and the court *may not grant review*, unless the petition is *timely filed* with the court and *timely served* on . . . persons who shall be parties to the review . . . ." *Overhulse*, 94 Wn. App. at 597 (quoting RCW 36.70C.040(2) (emphasis added)). Thus, LUPA, like the will contest statute, requires a petitioner to: (1) timely file a petition and (2) timely serve the petition on the appropriate parties and in the manner specified by statute. RCW 36.70C.040(2), (5). Under LUPA, a petitioner who fails to timely serve the appropriate parties in the methods specified by statute *does not* effectively invoke the court's jurisdiction and their petitioners are forever barred. *Overhulse*, 94 Wn. App. at 557-59.

court's jurisdiction in a LUPA petition is insufficient. *Overhulse*, 94 Wn. App. at 559.

Likewise, the Industrial Insurance Act, RCW 51.52.104 sets forth clear statutory requirements for filing a petition for review of a decision of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. It states: "In the event that no petition for review is filed as provided [in this section] . . ., the proposed decision and order of the industrial appeals judge shall be adopted by the board and become the decision and order of the board, and *no appeal may be taken therefrom to the courts.*" RCW 51.52.104 (emphasis added). Division 1 of the Court of Appeals has held that this statutory language means that, "when the Board adopts the proposed decision and order because no petition from review is timely filed, no appeal may be taken therefrom to the courts . . . [and, thus, the court] was without subject matter jurisdiction to hear [the] appeal and did not err by dismissing the appeal on that ground." *Corona v. Boeing Co.*, 111 Wn. App. 1, 7, 46 P.3d 253 (2002).

Thus, Washington courts routinely, and properly, treat a party's failure to abide by statutory requirements as jurisdictional in the sense that the petitioner failed to comply with the statute and, thus, failed to invoke the court's jurisdiction over his or her petition. Here, in order to invoke the court's jurisdiction, the will contest statute requires a petitioner to: (1)

timely file a petition in the proper court and (2) timely serve original process on the personal representative. RCW 11.24.010. But Mr. Jepsen only filed his petition; he failed to serve original process on the personal representative. CP at 173-77. Mr. Jepsen failed to invoke the court's jurisdiction over his will contest petition.

This result is supported by a number of decisions analyzing analogous statutory special proceedings. The will contest statute's requirements that a petitioner must both file and serve a petition in order to invoke the court's jurisdiction is similar to the statutory requirements in LUPA.<sup>7</sup> As in LUPA matters, if a petitioner fails to strictly comply with both the timely filing requirement and the timely service requirement established by the statute, the petitioner in a will contest matter has failed to properly invoke the court's jurisdiction. *See Overhulse*, 94 Wn. App. at 557-59. Similarly, as in the estate claim statute and the Industrial Insurance Act, a claimant's failure to strictly comply with the statutory prerequisites to invoke the court's jurisdiction deprives the court of jurisdiction over the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Compare RCW 11.24.010: "If, following filing, service is not so made, the action is deemed not to have been commenced for purposes of filing the statute of limitations. *If no person files and serves a petition within the time under this section, the probate or rejection of such will shall be binding and final.*" (Emphasis added). And "A land use petition is *barred*, and the court *may not grant review*, unless the petition is *timely filed* with the court and *timely served* on . . . persons who shall be parties to the review." RCW 36.70C.040(2) (emphasis added).

matter such that dismissal is appropriate. *See Stover*, 178 Wn. App. at 559-63; *Corona*, 111 Wn. App. at 7. Because the Court of Appeals' opinion in this matter fails to acknowledge the longstanding precedent requiring strict compliance with statutory directives in special proceedings, its opinion in this matter conflicts with its opinions in analogous circumstances, including the opinions discussed in this section. Consequently, this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' opinion to resolve the conflict in the analyses of the Court of Appeals in analyzing statutory special proceedings. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

4. Neither the waiver nor substantial compliance doctrines apply to save Mr. Jepsen's improperly commenced will contest action from dismissal for failing to invoke the court's jurisdiction.

Although the Court of Appeals suggested in its opinion that RCW 11.24.010's requirement that a petitioner timely file a will contest goes to a court's subject matter jurisdiction while its service requirement goes only to personal jurisdiction, which may be subject to waiver, that is incorrect. This conclusion is based on the Court of Appeals' reliance on provisions of *Kordon* analyzing the former will contest statutes, under which subject matter jurisdiction was established by filing a timely petition under Former RCW 11.24.010 (1994) and personal jurisdiction was established by serving the personal representative under Former RCW 11.24.020 (1965). But, after *Kordon*, the Legislature significantly

amended the will contest statutes, injecting both a timely filing requirement and a timely service requirement into RCW 11.24.010 in order to invoke the court's jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals erroneously overlooked this meaningful Legislative action.

Moreover, in *Kordon*, the Court even suggested that the statutory requirements in Former RCW 11.24.010 (1994) and Former RCW 11.24.020 (1965) were jurisdictional, stating in dicta that "substantial compliance with the [service requirement] . . . may be sufficient" but ultimately held that courts may not exercise jurisdiction over a case where the petitioner completely failed to meet the statutory requirements. 157 Wn.2d at 213-14.

In any event, will contests are special proceedings that are governed by the strict, mandatory terms of chapter 11.24 RCW and are not subject to enlargement by interpretation or waiver. *Ruth v. Dight*, 75 Wn.2d 660, 669-70, 453 P.2d 631 (1969); *Peterson*, 102 Wn. App.at 464. Similarly, substantial compliance with the mandatory statutory terms is in sufficient to invoke the court's jurisdiction over a will contest. *See Overhulse*, 94 Wn. App. at 559. The prospect of application of waiver, equitable extensions, or subjective determinations of substantial compliance to the mandatory statutory directives of the will contest statute would run afoul of the Legislature's plain language in the amended statute, which shows an

intent to provide a uniform procedure and date-certain on which survivors can rely for barring will contests after the death of a loved one.<sup>8</sup> Instead, Washington courts have properly rejected arguments of waiver, estoppel, or substantial compliance with Title 11 RCW and other analogous special proceedings, *see e.g. Peterson*, 102 Wn. App. at 467. This Court should accept review in this matter to assist practitioners and lower courts navigate the will contest statute as a matter of substantial public importance, which is also necessary to correct the conflict between the Court of Appeals' analysis in its opinion in this case and its opinions in other opinions applying analogous statutes.

# F. CONCLUSION

The Legislature's 2007 amendment to RCW 11.24.101 makes it clear that a petitioner may only properly invoke the court's jurisdiction over the matter by (1) timely filing the petition with the court and (2) timely serving original process on the personal representative. A petitioner who only files a petition without effecting personal service of original process on the personal representative fails to invoke the court's jurisdiction to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Indeed, the Legislature has shown a pattern of restricting the statutory period for perfecting a will contest from one year, to six months, to four months from the date of probate. *State ex rel. Wood v. Superior Court*, 76 Wash. 27, 31, 135 P. 4984 (1913); Laws of 1917, ch. 156 §15; Laws of 1967, ch. 168 §6.

hear the matter under the plain language of the statute, which states: "If, following filing, [personal] service [on the personal representative] is not . . . made, the action is deemed not to have been commenced for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations [and] . . . the probate or rejection of such will shall be final and binding." RCW 11.24.010.

As discussed herein, this Court should accept review because this case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court and the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with its analyses of other, similarly structured special proceedings statutes. RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this day of October 2014.

DAVIES PEARSON, P.C.

Susan L. Caulkins, WSBA #15692 Ingrid McLeod, WSBA #44375 920 Fawcett Avenue/P.O. Box 1657 Tacoma, WA 98401 (253) 620-1500 Attorneys for Julie Miles

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