I. REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

Respondent, Estate of Mack Jepsen (''Jepsen"), opposes the Petition 

for Review filed by Julie Miles, personal representative of the estate of 

Virginia J. Jepsen (''the Estate"). The Estate has not shown any basis for 

this Court to accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). 

II. RESPONSE TO STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The Decision of the Court of Appeals was consistent with precedent 

regarding waiver of an objection to personal jurisdiction when not raised by 

affirmative defense in the Answer. Accordingly, there is no reason for this 

Court to accept review.

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

IV. ARGUMENT 

The Estate has not shown a basis for review because the decision 

below is consistent with precedent. Pursuant to RAP 13 .4(b ), Supreme 

Court review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review IS 

appropriate only ifthe decision meets one of the following four criteria: 

( 1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a 

decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another 

decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question oflaw under the Constitution of the State 

of Washington or of the United States is involved; or 

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that 

should be dete1mined by the Supreme Court. 

The Estate proceeds under the second and fourth criteria, arguing 

review should be granted because the Court of Appeals decision "is in 

cont1icf' with another decision of the Court of Appeals or alternatively that 
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the petition "involves an issue of substantial public interest." Neither of 

these is true and the petition should be denied. 

A. The Opinion Is Not iu COJ~flict With another Opinion of the Court 
of Appeals. 

The Estate attempts to fabricate a "conflict'' where none exists. The 

amendments to RCW 11.24.010 are consistent with In re Estate of Kordon, 

157 Wn.2d 206, 137 P.3d 16, 18 (2006). Further, the other special 

proceedings relied on by the estate are not analogous to the will contest 

statute. 

I. The Opinion Is Consistent ·with Kordon and Statutory 
Amendments. 

Kordon analyzed the former will contest statute and held that filing 

the petition in court was an issue of subject matter jurisdiction, while service 

is an issue of personal jurisdiction. 157 Wn.2d at 209-10. The amendments 

to RCW 11.24.010 do not change this fundamental rule. The amendment 

added a paragraph to clarify the time frame in which the petition should be 

served. The new paragraph provides: 

For the purpose of tolling the four-month limitations period, 
a contest is deemed commenced when a petition is filed with 
the court and not when served upon the personal 
representative. The petitioner shall personally serve the 
personal representative within ninety days after the date of 
filing the petition. If, following filing, service is not so made, 
the action is deemed to not have been commenced for 
purposes of tolling the statute of limitations. 
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RCW I 1.24.010. Service is explicitly stated to be for the purpose of tolling 

the statute of limitations. The language is similar to that used in RCW 

4.16.170. Nothing in the amended statute is inconsistent with Kordon 's 

reiteration of the general legal principle that service of a lawsuit is an issue 

of personal jurisdiction and can implicate the statute of limitations. 

Defenses related to both service and the statute of limitations are routinely 

waived if not raised in an answer. 

The Estate asks the Court to ignore Kordon entirely because the will 

contest statute was amended to remove the antiquated requirement that a 

citation be issued. The amendments to RCW 11.24.010 only updated and 

clarified the statute consistent with the Supreme Co uri's discussion in 

Kordon. The amendments did not change well-settled law that personal 

service is a question of personal jurisdiction that can be waived. 

2. Other Statutes Are Not Analogous. 

The Estate's reliance on LUPA and industrial insurance appeals is 

also misplaced. As the Court of Appeals noted, "those statutes, e.g. the Land 

Use Petition Act and various non-claim statutes, are not analogous to the 

will contest statute." Opinion, page 9. Reference to unrelated statutes does 

not highlight a conflict between the opinion below and another decision of 

the Court of Appeals. 
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Despite the seemingly strict language cited by the Estate regarding 

the consequences of failure to serve a LUPA petition, the Estate 

inexplicably ignores the specific reference in the Act confinning the general 

rule that a defense relating to service of the petition is "waived if not raised 

by timely motion." RCW 36.70C.080(3). The Estate also fails to note case 

law holding that circumstances implicating waiver are sufficient to meet the 

service requirement. See Quality Rock Prods., Inc. v. Thurston County, 126 

Wn. App. 250, 259, 108 P .3d 805 (2005). Analogizing the will contest 

statute to LUPA should lead to the conclusion that service under the will 

contest statute can be waived just as it can under LUP A. 

Filing a notice of appeal under RCW 51.52 may be analogous to 

filing the petition for a will contest under the first paragraph of RCW 

11.24.010. But the issue on this appeal is not filing ofthe petition with the 

court; it is service of the petition. Analysis of the failure to tile, as discussed 

in Corona v. Boeing Co., 111 Wn. App. I, 46 P.3d 253 (2002), does not 

help resolve a situation where the petition was filed and where service of 

the petition was waived. 

When a respondent fails to object to personal jurisdiction in its 

answer, it waives that objection thereafter. E.g. Sanders v. Sanders, 63 

Wn.2d 709, 288 P.2d 942 (1964); O'Neill v. Farmers Ins. Co. of 

Washington, 124 Wn. App. 516,527,125 P.3d 134 (2004); see also Corona, 
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111 Wn. App. at 8. (although a party must file and serve within the 30-day 

appeal period provided for an industrial insurance appeal, "[ s ]ubstantial 

compliance with this statute is sufficient to invoke the superior court's 

jurisdiction."). 

The Court of Appeals, below, correctly held that, "failure to timely 

serve a party is a defense that may be waived. Proper service of the 

summons and complaint is a prerequisite to the court obtaining personal 

jurisdiction over a party. Under CR 12(h), a challenge to personal 

jurisdiction must be asserted either by motion filed before filing the answer 

or in the answer." Opinion, pages 5-6 (internal quotes omitted) (citing 

Scanlan v. Townsend, 178 Wn. App. 609, 617, 315 P.3d 594 (2013); 

Adkinson v. Digby, Inc., 99 Wn.2d 206,208-10,660 P.2d 756 (1983); Clark 

v. Falling, 92 Wn. App. 805, 965 P.2d 644 (1998); King v. Snohomish 

County, 146 Wn.2d 420, 424, 47 P.3d 563 (2002); Meade v. Thomas, 152 

Wn. App. 490, 493-94, 217 P .3d 785 (2009)). 

In the instant matter, there is no "conflict" with another Court of 

Appeals' decision. Here, Jepsen complied with the absolute jurisdictional 

requirement by filing the petition, and the Estate waived any defense 

relating to service or the statute of limitations by failing to raise it in its 

Answer. Therefore RAP 13.4(b)(2) is not a valid basis for granting review. 
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B. There Is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest at Stake to 
Warrant Review. 

There is nothing extraordinary about this case .to warrant review of 

the Com1 of Appeals decision. 

"A defense oflack of jurisdiction over the person, improper 
venue, insufficiency of process, or insufficiency of service 
of process is waived (A) if omitted from a motion in the 
circumstances described in section (g), or (B) if it is neither 
made by motion under this rule nor included in a 
responsive pleading or an amendment thereof permitted by 
rule 15(a) to be made as a matter of course. 

CR 12(h)(l) (emphasis added). 

It is undisputed that Jepsen brought his petition and the Estate failed 

to raise its defenses relating to service or the statute of limitations in its 

Answer. Pursuant to CR 12(h), the defense of the Estate is waived as to 

Jepsen's petition. The Estate's failure to raise lack of service as a defense 

and the resulting waiver of that defense does not create a substantial public 

interest to wan-ant review. Therefore RAP 13 .4(b )( 4) is not a valid basis 

for granting review. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals con-ectly affirmed the trial court. The Estate's 

petition for review should be denied. Jepsen should recover attorney's fees 

incun-ed in responding to the Petition for Review pursuant to RCW 
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11. 96A.150 because there are no ground for further review of the opinion 

ofthe Court of Appeals.